**RECEIVED**

**Mar 09 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Sumter County

Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MUSTAFA A. SALAAM,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001620

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SARAH E. SHIPE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court err by overruling Appellant's objection under Rule 404, SCRE, to testimony that he previously obtained a weapon improperly where that evidence could not prove he intentionally shot the injured people and he testified the gun fired accidentally?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 8, 2022, the grand jury of Sumter County indicted Appellant Mustafa Salaam for murder, attempted murder, and the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 424. On July 25, 2024, he filed a motion requesting a bench trial. R. 1. After a hearing on July 29, 2024, Judge Ferrell Cothran granted the motion by written order dated August 1, 2024. R. 3.

Appellant proceeded to trial from September 11, to 13, 2024 before Judge Cothran. R. 7. He was represented by M. Lavan Green, Jr. and Edgar R. Donald, Jr. R. 7. The state was represented by Megan E. Raymer, Caroline A. Hughes, and Joel A. Kozak. R. 7. Ultimately, the trial court found him guilty on all charges. R. 411:22-412:8. The court issued a life sentence for the murder and thirty years for the attempted murder; it did not issue a sentence with respect to the possession of a weapon charge. R. 416:11-17.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 11, 2021, Appellant Mustafa Salaam and his fiancé, Fran Metellus, went to his apartment in Sumter around 7:30 p.m. R. 229:9-24, 336:2-339:25. Their wedding was scheduled for the following day. R. 334:2-23. With them were Metellus's daughter, Rachel, and Rachel's newborn child. R. 340:1-15. The group went up to Appellant's apartment at Chestnut Pointe. R. 339:14-340:5. When they entered, Joyce Bennet and her sister Lorraine Doretha Bennet were already inside.<sup>1</sup> R. 340:1-20. Technically, the apartment was in Lorraine's name. R. 43:11-24. Lorraine originally lived there, but she had mostly moved in with her sister previously and infrequently stayed at the apartment with Appellant. R. 332:16-333:25. Metellus, Rachel, and the baby went to the bedroom, and Lorraine started asking Appellant about his wedding. R. 340:1-341:13. The two had previously dated, and she was upset she had not been told about Appellant's wedding. R. 341:8-13.

Appellant testified that as Lorraine was talking, she started walking aggressively toward Rachel. R. 342:7-14. Metellus then started toward Lorraine to protect her daughter, and then Lorraine pulled a gun out of her purse. R. 342:11-17. Appellant went to disarm Lorraine, and she turned the gun towards him. R. 342:19-343:5. He grabbed Lorraine by the wrist, and in the confrontation the gun fired. Tr. 352:10-20. The two of them then fell, and the firearm went off again. R. 343:21-24. The first shot hit Joyce; the second hit Lorraine. R. 343:24-344:23. Appellant then left the apartment, and Metellus, Rachel, and the baby followed shortly after. R. 349:21-350:9. Appellant testified that when he left, Lorraine's gun was still on the floor. R. 355:22-356:3, 374:17-375:1.

---

<sup>1</sup> Both "Lorraine" and "Doretha" were used varyingly throughout the trial to refer to the same person.

Lorraine survived the shot that accidentally struck her head. R. 114:2-20. She testified at trial to a different version of events. Just as Appellant testified, she explained she was in the apartment with Joyce when Appellant and the others arrived that evening. R. 104:5-105:7. In her story, she was upset because other people are not allowed to stay in the apartment as a term of the lease. R. 106:15-22. That was why she went toward the bedroom where Metellus and Rachel were: to tell them they were not allowed to stay there. R. 106:21-107:1. She then returned to the living room and told Appellant she and Joyce were going to leave. R. 110:1-10. Then, according to Lorraine and for no apparent reason, Appellant yelled, "You ain't gonna motherfucking place" as he pointed a gun at them. R. 110:9-18. According to Lorraine, he then "shot us down." R. 110:18-22. Lorraine was eventually life-flighted to the hospital, and unfortunately Joyce did not survive. R. 90:15-91:1. Dr. Nicholas Batalis, the pathologist who performed the autopsy, testified Joyce's manner of death was homicide and the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head. R. 273:15-21, 279:19-280:12. He testified the bullet entered the back-left side of her head. R. 280:13-22.

Law enforcement officers searched the apartment and discovered three guns in a closet and a Ruger gun box in a desk in the bedroom. R. 154:2-156:8, 180:20-181:15. No weapon was in the Ruger box, but it did contain a sealed test-fire cartridge from the manufacturer. R. 157:3-13, 159:18-160:3. The Ruger box also had a serial number for the weapon that allowed officers to search the ATF database and discover it was purchased by Martha Ann Payton in 2015 in Greer, South Carolina. R. 194:4-21. In addition, officers recovered a loose shell casing from the apartment. R. 175:4-176:11. Brian Malanio, a firearms expert from SLED, testified the loose shell casing might have been fired by the missing Ruger based on his comparison with the test-fire cartridge. R. 286:24-19, 292:8-293:10, 295:1-296:8. There were "limited similarities" between

the casings, and although they could have been fired from the same gun, he was not able to determine if they in fact were. R. 295:1-296:8.

After Appellant testified and the defense rested its case, the state called Martha Payton in reply. R. 382:5-25. Payton testified she dated Appellant for three months in 2015. R. 384:2-11. The state asked her, "Did he ever ask you to purchase a firearm for him?" Tr. 394:2-3. Appellant objected that the question was irrelevant and addressed inadmissible prior bad acts. R. 385:5-10. The trial court overruled the objection stating, "we have ATF records as to who they were registered to or who purchased," and "I think it's relevant." R. 385:11-17.

Ultimately, the trial court found him guilty on all charges. R. 411:22-412:8.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the trial court erred in the admission of evidence is reviewed to determine if the trial court acted within its discretion. *State v. Swafford*, 375 S.C. 637, 640, 654 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct. App. 2007) ("The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." (quoting *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001))).

## ARGUMENT

The state called Payton for the primary purpose of proving Appellant previously had her obtain a firearm not in his name. That is inadmissible evidence of another crime or wrong under Rule 404, SCRE. Rule 404(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.

Rule 404(b), SCRE; *see generally State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). "[E]vidence of a defendant's other crimes serves the prohibited purpose of showing he has a propensity to engage in criminal behavior." *State v. Perry*, 430 S.C. 24, 30, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2020). "The question for a trial court . . . is whether the evidence also serves some legitimate purpose that is not prohibited by Rule 404(b)." *Id.* The trial court must exercise "rigid scrutiny" in determining whether the state has demonstrated a legitimate purpose. *Perry*, 430 S.C. at 33, 842 S.E.2d at 658 (quoting *Lyle*, 125 S.C. at 417, 118 S.E. at 807).

Here, Payton's testimony did not serve any legitimate purpose because evidence of this firearm purchase proved nothing of consequence to the case. On the state's evidence and theory of the case, there was no suggestion of a "common scheme or plan." There was also no question of Appellant's identity or the fact of his involvement. In opening statements Appellant argued that when he testifies, "he's going to tell you that it was Ms. Lorraine Bennet who pulled the gun on him" before it accidentally discharged while he was trying to disarm her. R. 22:3-14. Appellant had already testified he was trying to disarm Lorraine when the gun fired unintentionally.

The remaining Rule 404(b) exceptions—motive, intent, and absent of mistake or accident—can be considered together. Broadly speaking, these three points were Appellant's defense: that he lacked motive and malice and that the gun fired unintentionally. Payton's

testimony about the previous firearm purchase did nothing to prove any of these points. Officers uncovered an empty gun box from the apartment, and based on the ATF's database, Payton purchased the weapon in 2015. Connecting Payton to the gun box directly—or even Appellant through her—did not make it more likely Appellant intentionally shot the Bennetts with malice. He obtained the gun over five years before the alleged murder. That cannot reasonably be evidence he intentionally shot the Bennetts. It had no tendency to prove Appellant's motive, intent, or the absence of mistake, but the 404(b) exceptions are the *only* permissible use of such evidence. *See* Note, Rule 404, SCRE ("[U]nlike the federal rule which does not limit the purposes for which evidence of other crimes may be admitted, the South Carolina rule limits the use of evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts to those enumerated . . ."); *see also* 16 Corpus Juris, *Criminal Law* §1133, at 587 (1918) ("The admission of evidence which shows or tends to show the commission of other offenses by the accused has been and should be carefully restricted.").

There is only one way in which Payton's testimony could prove intent or malice: criminal propensity. By suggesting that Appellant previously obtained the weapon improperly,<sup>2</sup> the state relied upon "the inevitable tendency" of other crimes to demonstrate his bad character and therefore intent and guilt. *Perry*, 430 S.C. at 30, 842 S.E.2d at 657 (quoting *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 417, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923)). The only way in which proof of the circumstances surrounding the purchase of this gun could show intent is if one accepts the "legally spurious

---

<sup>2</sup> At sentencing, the solicitor reported that Appellant has a prior conviction for domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, which would preclude him from possessing a firearm. R. 413:19-25; *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-6530(A)(1) (forbidding those convicted of high and aggravated domestic violence from ever possessing a firearm). It is not clear from the record that, at the time of Payton's testimony, the trial court knew Appellant was not permitted to possess a firearm. Nonetheless, evidence that he asked someone else to put the gun in their name tends to raise the assumption of criminal activity. That assumption has the same prejudicial effect.

presumption of guilt" that flows from the evidence of another crime. *Id.* (quoting *Lyle*, 125 S.C. at 417, 118 S.E. at 807).

Even if the evidence had any legitimate probative value, that value was substantial outweighed by the danger of the improper propensity. "Once bad act evidence is found admissible under Rule 404(b), the trial court *must* then conduct the prejudice analysis required by Rule 403, SCRE." *State v. Thompson*, 420 S.C. 386, 398, 803 S.E.2d 44, 50 (Ct. App. 2017) (quoting *State v. Spears*, 403 S.C. 247, 253, 742 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct. App. 2013)); *see also State v. Clasby*, 385 S.C. 148, 155, 682 S.E.2d 892, 896 (2009) (quoting *State v. Gaines*, 380 S.C. 23, 29, 667 S.E.2d 728, 731 (2008)). Because the evidence concerned a matter not in dispute, the probative value was very low in the context of the case. *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 610, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014) ("The evaluation of probative value cannot be made in the abstract, but should be made in the practical context of the issues at stake in the trial of each case."). The empty gun box was found in his apartment; thus, there was little value in further evidence it was his gun box. Critically, although Payton's testimony tended to establish it was his gun and gun box, it did not have any tendency to establish the gun was on him that day, that he drew it in aggression, or that he intentionally shot the Bennetts. Altogether, the evidence was of such little value it was more than substantially outweighed by the clear danger the factfinder would believe Appellant is simply a suspicious criminal with criminal purposes. It therefore should have been excluded.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his convictions and remand the case for a new trial.



Sarah E. Shipe  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

This 9<sup>th</sup> day of March, 2026.