RECEIVED

Mar 27 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Sumter County

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MUSTAFA ABDUR SALAAM,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2024-001620

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MEGAN RAYMER
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3747

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge fairly and properly allowed the State to introduce limited evidence to rebut the false impression created by Appellant’s testimony regarding his lack of connection to the suspected murder weapon. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by allowing the reply that both linked Appellant to the gun he attempted to disavow and constituted evidence supporting malice aforethought and intent to kill.

Relevant Law:

“The admission of testimony which is arguably contradictory of and in reply to earlier testimony does not constitute an abuse of discretion” and is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Prather, 429 S.C. 583, 602, 840 S.E.2d 551, 561 (2020). Moreover, the “trial court’s determination that a party has opened the door to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and is reviewed for abuse and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Heyward, 426 S.C. 630, 636, 828 S.E.2d 592, 594 (2019).

To show entitlement to relief on appeal based on the wrongful admission of evidence, the complaining party must prove resulting prejudice. State v. White, 446 S.C. 276, 285, 919 S.E.2d 37, 41-42 (Ct. App. 2025) (citing State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011)). In the present case, the assessment of prejudice must be viewed from the posture of a bench trial as opposed to a jury trial. Id. at 285 (citing State v. Inman, 395 S.C. 539, 565, 720 S.E.2d 31, 45 (2011)). “It is well-established that it is a near insurmountable burden for a defendant to prove prejudice in the context of a bench trial as a judge, unlike a juror, is uniquely suited by training, experience, and judicial discipline to disregard prejudicial or inadmissible evidence.” Id. at 285.

Discussion:

Appellant contends that the trial court should have excluded evidence that Payton had purchased the missing firearm, which was likely the murder weapon, pursuant to 404(b), SCRE, arguing it was improper for the State to use this evidence to show he had obtained the weapon

improperly. However, the purpose for which the State offered the evidence during trial was not “to show action in conformity” with a prior bad act. Instead, after Appellant’s denial of knowing Payton and his testimony that it was Lorraine’s gun that was fired, the evidence was offered to rebut this testimony, as well as to establish facts that became more relevant as a result of his own testimony – ownership and/or possession of the gun. The record shows no abuse of discretion.

Appellant testified that he did not shoot Lorraine or Joyce Bennett, but rather that it was Lorraine’s gun that she pulled from her purse and fired as Appellant attempted to disarm her. (R. 342:9-343:25). Additionally, Appellant testified that he did not know Martha Payton, who according to ATF records, was the registered owner of the suspected murder weapon used by Appellant. (R. 377:12-378:1) (State’s Exhibit 98). Appellant repeatedly denied knowing Martha Payton and thereby any connection to the missing gun. Thus, Appellant’s testimony made the contradictory testimony in reply keenly relevant. Prather, 429 S.C. at 603, 840 S.E.2d at 561 (“Any arguably contradictory testimony is proper on reply.”) (quoting State v. South, 285 S.C. 529, 535, 331 S.E.2d 775, 779 (1985)); State v. Todd, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 340 (1986) (“The admission of reply testimony is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and there is no abuse of discretion if the testimony is arguably contradictory of and in reply to earlier testimony.”) (citing State v. Stewart, 283 S.C. 104, 320 S.E.2d 447 (1984)). See also State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 482, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008) (“It is firmly established that otherwise inadmissible evidence may be properly admitted when [the defendant] opens the door to that evidence.”).

After Appellant’s testimony, the State called Payton to testify to dispute Appellant’s testimony. Payton identified Appellant and testified that she and Appellant were in a romantic relationship in 2015 and planned to wed that same year. (R. 383:2-384:21). The Defense then objected to the State’s line of questioning regarding the purchase of a firearm for Appellant on the

grounds of relevance and “to the extent that she’s trying to prove any prior bad act or anything of that nature.” (R. 385:2-10). The trial court overruled the Defense’s objection stating “the question was asked to your client whether he knew her. And -- and, you know, we – it’s evidence in this case about a number of firearms. We have -- we have ATF records as to who they were registered to or who purchased. I think it’s relevant. I’ll allow them to proceed.” (R. 385:11-17). Payton then testified that she had purchased a firearm for Appellant and that she had not seen that firearm again since he took it with him when he left in 2015. (R. 385:2-387:25). Payton also confirmed the firearm she purchased for Appellant was the firearm matching State’s Exhibit 98 – the ATF records for the missing firearm. (R. 386:17-387:23).

The trial judge’s ruling is well supported by the facts and the relevant law. As the record shows the trial judge did not abuse his discretion, this Court should affirm. Prather, *supra*.

Payton’s testimony was relevant to the substantive issues at trial. See Rule 402, SCRE (“All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by ... these rules....”); see also Rule 401, SCRE (stating evidence is relevant when it “ha[s] any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence”). When Appellant denied knowing Payton, he created a false impression that they had no prior relationship and therefore he had no relationship to the suspected murder weapon, which the State was entitled to rebut for the purpose of proving facts material to the issues in the case. See South, 285 S.C. at 535, 331 S.E.2d at 779 (“Any arguably contradictory testimony is proper on reply.”); see also State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 127, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Evidence is admissible if ‘logically relevant’ to establish a material fact or element of the crime.”). This is especially true considering the State’s burden to prove malice aforethought. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16–3–10 (defining “murder” as “the killing of any person with

malice aforethought, either express or implied” (emphasis added)); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 16–3–29 (“A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” (emphasis added)); see also State v. Jackson, 364 S.C. 329, 334, 613 S.E.2d 374, 376 (2005) (providing the State “has the right to prove every element of the crime charged”).

Appellant’s argument the trial judge erred is centered on Payton’s testimony being inadmissible evidence of another crime or wrong under Rule 404(b), SCRE. (“Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.”). Appellant posits that “[b]y suggesting Appellant previously obtained the weapon improperly, the State relied upon the ‘inevitable tendency’ of other crimes to demonstrate his bad character and therefore intent and guilt.” (IBOA, p. 8). However, the trial judge did not admit the testimony on that basis, and the State did not present evidence that Appellant had any prior conviction(s) or that Appellant was not permitted to possess a firearm.³ Appellant similarly argues “evidence that he asked someone else to put a gun in their name tends to raise the assumption of criminal activity and the assumption has the same prejudicial effect.” (IBOA, p. 8). This fares no better. See State v. Patterson, 425 S.C. 500, 509-510, 823 S.E.2d 217, 222-223 (Ct. App. 2019) (holding the trial court *did not* err in admitting testimony regarding the DNA database search where Patterson similarly argues the testimony was inadmissible because it implied Patterson had a prior criminal record in violation of Rule 404(b), SCRE. The court held evidence was admissible where the State did not place letter containing references to DNA

³ It was only at sentencing, after the Appellant had been found guilty that the State reported that Appellant has a prior conviction for domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, which would preclude him from possessing a firearm. (R. 413:19-25). See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-6530(A)(1) (forbidding those convicted of high and aggravated domestic violence from possessing a firearm).

database into evidence, and reference to database did not contemporaneously refer to defendant as a suspect, State did not mention the type of database match came from, did not attempt to solicit testimony regarding purpose of database, nor did it bring up defendant's prior record, and even though law enforcement agency developed DNA profile it entered into database, *testimony did not necessarily imply defendant had criminal record.*) (emphasis added); compare State v. Hill, 409 S.C. 50, 57-58, 760 S.E.2d 802, 806 (2014) (holding that the admission of a law enforcement letter in which references were made to the CODIS database, while irrelevant and inadmissible, was not reversible error. The court noted that the publication of the letter—which referred to Hill as a “suspect” and stated that if he was charged, “an additional biological specimen must be submitted for court purposes”—could “have created an inference in a juror’s mind that [Hill] had a criminal record.”). Payton’s testimony did not necessarily imply Appellant had a criminal record as her reply was appropriately limited and there was no testimony related to Appellant’s criminal record or ability to possess a firearm legally.

Moreover, under these facts, the State was under no obligation to present different evidence to prove Appellant’s connection to the missing firearm just because of the possibility of an inference that the firearm was improperly obtained. See State v. Faulkner, 274 S.C. 619, 621, 266 S.E.2d 420, 421 (1980) (stating relevant evidence on a material issue “need not be excluded merely because it incidentally reflects upon the defendant’s [character]”); see also Sweat, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513 (stating evidence which “establish[es] a material fact or element of the crime,” “need not be ‘necessary’ to the State’s case” to be admissible).

Because the reply directly contradicted Appellant’s own testimony related to the suspected murder weapon, it was proper and admissible. Prather, supra. See also State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 191, 262 S.E.2d 31, 32 (1980) (finding proper the co-defendant’s reply supporting contact

between co-defendant and defendant which contradicted the defendant's testimony "he had not seen the witness for 'a good substantial period of time, maybe two months, maybe three months,' prior to his arrest, as an obvious attempt to disclaim any contact with his coconspirator."). Accord United States v. Leavis, 853 F.2d 215 (4th Cir. 1988) ("The prosecution was entitled, as the district court held, to rebut the false impression Leavis was creating by his testimony."). Moreover, the false impression was on a critical point of proof - identification. See State v. Lane, 749 S.E.2d 165, 167 (Ct. App. 2013) ("The State has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the defendant as the person who committed the charged crime or crimes."). Evidence that it was Appellant's firearm concerned a matter directly relevant to the ultimate issue at trial—whether Appellant killed Joyce and attempted to kill Lorraine—and the testimony rebutted Appellant's testimony that it was Lorraine's gun and his assertion of accident. Compare State v. Williams, 409 S.C. 455, 469, 761 S.E.2d 770, 778 (Ct. App. 2014) (finding reply testimony inadmissible because it "was not directly relevant to the ultimate issue in the trial—[defendant]'s guilt or innocence").

The fact that the evidence could also be considered character evidence is not a bar to admissibility. "While the State may not attack a criminal defendant's character unless he has placed it in issue, relevant evidence admissible for other purposes need not be excluded merely because it incidentally reflects upon the defendant's reputation." Faulkner, 274 S.C. at 621, 266 S.E.2d at 421 (internal citations omitted). Because the reply testimony centered on contradiction, the bar to general character evidence did not apply. Compare id with State v. Bolin, 180 S.E. 809, 811-812 (1935) (questions on prior incident of violence not involving victim constituted improper character evidence as "when a defendant becomes a witness in his own behalf, his character as to veracity is thereby uncovered, but not his general moral character.>").

Even if Payton's testimony was considered evidence of another crime or wrong under SCRE 404(b) it would still be admissible as it showed intent. Payton's testimony tended to establish it was Appellant's gun used which contradicted Appellant's assertion that Lorraine pulled out her gun and that the gun went off accidentally twice during the struggle. Any plea of accident in a murder case does not change the State's burden of proof as to its case in chief. State v. Owens, 433 S.C. 482, 860 S.E2d 357 (2021). Evidence that it was Appellant's gun also is evidence that Appellant not only was the shooter but that he also had the intent to kill Lorraine and did kill Joyce. "To prove murder, as we have held many times, the State must prove a voluntary and intentional act with malice." Id.

Furthermore, Payton's testimony was relevant and highly probative because it went directly to a critical point of proof. Specifically, Payton's testimony established the gun belonged to Appellant and was evidence he intentionally shot both victims, contradicting Appellant's own testimony. See State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986) ("Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears."). Additionally, based on the fact the trial court was presented with only limited information regarding how Appellant obtained the gun, and given that Payton's testimony directly contradicts Appellant's own testimony, any potential for unfair prejudice to Appellant was minimal. See State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009) ("[E]ven where the evidence is shown to be relevant, if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, the evidence must be excluded."); State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999) (noting that an inadvertent vague reference to defendant's prior record will not amount to prejudicial error).

Even so, the record supports the trial judge's ruling and shows no abuse of discretion. The ruling should be affirmed.

Harmless Error

Even if the reply testimony had been admitted in error, the admission was harmless as Appellant's guilt was conclusively proven beyond a reasonable doubt through overwhelming evidence.

Generally, "[e]rror is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial." State v. Golson, 349 S.C. 421, 429, 562 S.E.2d 663, 667 (Ct. App. 2002). "In determining whether error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, we often look to whether the 'defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven ... such that no other rational conclusion can be reached'." State v. Ostrowski, 435 S.C. 364, 401, 867 S.E.2d 269, 288 (Ct. App. 2021) (quoting State v. Reyes, 432 S.C. 394, 406, 853 S.E.2d 334, 340 (2020) (citations omitted)). "[O]verwhelming evidence of a defendant's guilt is a relevant consideration in the harmless error analysis." Id. (citations omitted). An insubstantial error not affecting a trial's result is harmless where "guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached." State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

The record shows overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Notably, there is the testimony from the surviving victim, Lorraine, that Appellant shot both victims. (R. 112: 11-14). Also, though Appellant claimed Lorraine fell on him and was then shot, he had no blood on his shirt, only gun-powder residue. (R. 240: 5-24, 257;10-261:7). Video footage confirmed Appellant's presence at the apartment. (R. 230:1-25). And, though he claimed an unintentional shooting, Appellant did not call 911 but fled, arguably dumping the victims' phones in an area near his Wedgefield Road residence, and over ten miles from the apartment. (R. 220:18-23; 372:10-25;

202:18-203:21; 225:12-227:4; 232:11-233:11). Further still, the Ruger pistol box was found in the bedroom of the apartment where Appellant had stayed, the closet in that bedroom containing men's clothing. (R. 97:16-99:21; 179: 19-183:11; 154:8-155:8) On examination, the gun was consistent with that used in the crimes. (R. 302:6-20; 303:8-12). The gun was one a former girlfriend purchased for Appellant and he kept. (R. 386:17-387:25).

In sum, based on this record, even if some error could be found in the admission of the reply testimony, such error would not warrant reversal, especially considering that the evidence was accepted for a specific reason, *i.e.*, reply based on Appellant's testimony, during a bench trial. See Inman, supra. Appellant is not entitled to any relief.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should affirm.